097

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

上上		EL)
S	ID & WI	HITE	9/
1 /8É	P 7	1993	"10
ELERK,	SUPREM	ME COU	RE
Ву——	of Deputy	Clark	

ETHAN ALLEN INC.,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 81,872

GEORGETOWN MANOR, INC.,

Appellee.

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ETHAN ALLEN INC.

ANDREW L. FREY
MICHAEL A. VATIS
Mayer, Brown & Platt
2000 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006-1885
(202) 778-0602

INTRODUCTION

This case involves a question of Florida law certified to this Court by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. That question, as phrased by the Eleventh Circuit, is:

Under Florida law, in a tortious interference with business relationships tort action, may a plaintiff recover damages for the loss of goodwill based upon future sales to past customers with whom the plaintiff has no understanding that they will continue to do business with the plaintiff, or is the plaintiff's recovery of damages limited to harm done to existing business relationships pursuant to which the plaintiff has legal rights, as discussed in Landry v. Hornstein, 462 So.2d 844, 846 (Fla. 3d D.C.A. 1985); Douglass Fertilizers & Chemical, Inc. v. McClung Landscaping, Inc., 459 So.2d 335, 336 (Fla. 5th D.C.A. 1984); Insurance Field Services, Inc. v. White & White Inspection and Audit Service, Inc., 384 So.2d 303, 306 (Fla. 5th D.C.A. 1980); and Lake Gateway Motor Inn v. Matt's Sunshine Gift Shops, Inc., 361 So.2d 769, 771-72 (Fla. 4th D.C.A. 1978)?

App. 13. As the Eleventh Circuit's own question indicates, this issue has been addressed by the appellate courts of this State on numerous occasions, and has been answered the same way each time. Unless this Court desires to use this case to eliminate a longstanding element of the State's law of tortious interference, the certified question permits only one answer: Under Florida's tortious interference law, the plaintiff's recovery is limited to harm done to existing business relationships pursuant to which the plaintiff has "legal rights" -- i.e., relationships that, although not necessarily embodied in enforceable contracts, have solidified into concrete agreements or understandings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. Background

This case stems from a dispute between Ethan Allen Inc., a furniture manufacturer, and one of its former distributors in southern Florida, Georgetown Manor, Inc. The dispute concerned Georgetown's debt to Ethan Allen for previously delivered furniture and the eventual termination of the parties' relationship.

In 1983, Georgetown's long-time owners decided to sell Georgetown to George Levin. R32-161-63. With Ethan Allen's agreement, Georgetown remained an Ethan Allen distributor after Levin bought the company. *Id.* at 175-176.

Within a year after Levin's purchase, Georgetown's outstanding debt to Ethan Allen for previously delivered furniture increased considerably. By June 1984, the debt had risen to over \$1.1 million, with more than \$100,000 over 90 days past due. 1SR-8, 11. Several times between June and November 1984, Margaret Lupton, Ethan Allen's director of corporate credit services, wrote or called Georgetown to express Ethan Allen's concern over Georgetown's rising debt and warned that Ethan Allen might be forced to impose a credit hold -- i.e., suspend delivery of furniture on credit -- if the debt was not reduced. Id. at 11-13.

Despite Lupton's warnings, Georgetown's debt continued to rise even higher. By December 3, 1984, the debt totalled nearly \$1.85 million, with over \$650,000 more than 61 days past due. R70-19-20.

¹ Citations to the record follow the form required by the Eleventh Circuit.

On December 4, based on the recommendations of Lupton and her supervisor, Ethan Allen placed a credit hold on Georgetown's account, halting all further shipments of merchandise until a plan could be worked out for payment of Georgetown's outstanding debt. Id. at 20-21; 1SR-27. It is undisputed that the terms of the dealership agreement permitted Ethan Allen to impose the credit hold and cease shipments to Georgetown. R36-178-79; R35-5-6.

Over the next month, Ethan Allen and Georgetown attempted to negotiate a solution to Georgetown's debt problem and the credit hold. When the parties could not reach a mutually agreeable solution, Levin informed Ethan Allen that he was converting Georgetown's five Ethan Allen galleries to Thomasville Furniture Industries, Inc., outlets. App. 3.

Levin formed a new corporation, Thomasville Showcase Interiors (ToSI) to operate the new Thomasville galleries at the old Georgetown locations. App. 3. Georgetown issued a press release on January 11, 1985 announcing the conversion of its stores from Ethan Allen to Thomasville and stating that "Thomasville offers the best opportunities for our company as we look into the future."

Id. Georgetown also publicized the conversion in industry

Ethan Allen wanted Georgetown to reduce its outstanding debt, provide interim financial statements, and provide security for the remaining debt before it would resume shipping furniture to Georgetown. R70-28-29. Levin, however, refused to pay down Georgetown's debt unless Ethan Allen agreed to provide him a fixed line of credit and released the credit hold first. R33-53-54, 63-64; R34-63-64, 195-196. Levin also wanted Ethan Allen to ship c.o.d. (cash on delivery) the furniture that customers had already ordered from Georgetown. R33-70-71; R70-53. Ethan Allen, however, refused to ship any furniture until Georgetown reduced its outstanding debt. R70-54, 69; R49-47-51.

newspapers (R49-38, R70-82) and in a letter to its previous customers. R33-199-201; R70-83; R34-93, 214, 242.

Ethan Allen was concerned that Georgetown's conversion to Thomasville would make consumers think that Ethan Allen had abandoned the southern Florida market. R70-117. On February 3, 1985, Ethan Allen placed a one-day ad in several South Florida newspapers explaining why it had ceased shipping furniture to Georgetown. App. 3. The ad also informed readers that new dealers, Bob and Brenda Stacy, would be opening an Ethan Allen gallery in the area and that customers with unfilled orders at Georgetown could obtain their furniture from the Stacys. App. 3-4; R70-112-113; 3SR-7, 19. The ad stated:

Dear Valued Customer:

Ethan Allen recently announced a major change in the distribution in the Miami [or General Pompano] Area. Since this change affects you, our valued customer, I would like to explain the situation directly.

For about 20 years, Ethan Allen enjoyed a wonderful relationship with the Blau family who operated the Georgetown Manor stores in the Miami area.

Because of family illness, the business was sold to a new group. Financial problems developed and our bills were not paid. The debt rose to a high level and we could no longer deliver merchandise to them until the debt was reduced. Reluctantly, we then had to discontinue distribution of Ethan Allen by Georgetown completely. We, therefore, are presently opening new Ethan Allen galleries in this area to serve our many customers of long standing.

One of our fine dealer families in the area, Bob and Brenda Stacy, have established an Ethan Allen office in

Some customers who had not received their furniture from Georgetown were under the impression that Ethan Allen was going out of business. R-136-25.

our present Ethan Allen Contemporary Gallery at 5070 N. Federal Highway, Lighthouse Point (Pompano). The phone number is 305-421-5300. This Gallery will soon become an Ethan Allen American Traditional Gallery. The Stacys will be opening other Ethan Allen Galleries very shortly to serve you.

Many Ethan Allen customers have unfilled orders with Georgetown Manor. We and the Stacys are very anxious to effect deliveries of these orders and can handle them very expeditiously.

Please contact Stacy's Service Center in Pompano and they will handle your inquiries and orders. Again, the number is 305-421-5300.

The new galleries will be called Ethan Allen Carriage House and will continue to bring you our beautiful furniture and professional services.

We are sorry about this disruption as we took great pains to avoid it.

We look forward to serving you again.

Nathan S. Ancell /s Nathan S. Ancell Chairman of the Board Ethan Allen Inc. Danbury, CT 06811

App. 3-4.

2. Procedural History

Georgetown filed this action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida in January 1985. App. 4; R-1-1. Georgetown's final amended complaint alleged that Ethan Allen had tortiously interfered with Georgetown's "advantageous business relationship" with its "customers, past, present and

Georgetown's original complaint, filed before the ad was even published, sought damages and a preliminary injunction compelling Ethan Allen to supply Georgetown with furniture. App. 4. Over the next five years, Georgetown amended the complaint four times, and the district court dismissed or granted summary judgment against Georgetown on several of its claims. App. 4-5.

future" by publishing the February 3 advertisement. App. 5; R-17-631-8. Georgetown alleged that the ad tortiously interfered with its relationship with customers who had existing orders with it for Ethan Allen furniture by causing them to cancel their orders and demand refunds, resulting in a loss of the profits that Georgetown allegedly would have made on those orders. R-17-631-7. Georgetown also claimed that the ad interfered with its prospective "relationship" with 89,000 people who had shopped at Georgetown in the past and might have shopped there again in the future. R-17-631-8. It further alleged that the loss of future business from these people destroyed Georgetown's entire value as an ongoing business. Id. at 8-9; R51-51-52.

In March 1990, the district court (the Honorable Kenneth L. Ryskamp of the Southern District of Florida) issued an order limiting Georgetown's tortious interference claim to customers with existing business relationships with Georgetown. See App. 5. In

The final amended complaint also contained a claim of conversion. App. 5. The district court directed a verdict in favor of Ethan Allen on this claim (id.) and the Eleventh Circuit affirmed, finding Georgetown's arguments "to be clearly without merit." App. 6 n.1.

Georgetown made this claim despite the fact that customers had begun canceling their orders and demanding refunds *before* the ad ran, for the simple reason that Georgetown could not fill their orders after the credit hold. R70-89; R36-179-80; R34-211; R39-17-18.

The complaint also alleged that Georgetown had an advantageous business relationship with "future customers" in general. See R17-631-8. At trial, however, Georgetown limited the scope of its asserted business relationship with potential future customers to only those customers who had shopped at Georgetown in the past and might do so again. See, e.g., R34-78; R51-51-52; R63-19-25.

so doing, the Court rejected Georgetown's argument that it could recover damages for "interference" with respect to customers who might have bought from it in the future:

A claim of tortious interference does not encompass lost profits from both existing and prospective business relationships, as Georgetown argues. Smith v. Ocean State Bank, 335 So.2d 641, 643 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), on which Georgetown relies, does not stand for this proposition. Instead, the rule of Smith is that the existing business relationship subject to the allegedly tortious interference need not be evidenced by an enforceable contract.

Thus, Georgetown incorrectly characterizes Florida common law regarding tortious interference. . . . To make a prima facie case of tortious interference, Georgetown must show interference with an existing contractual or business relationship, coupled with legal rights and damages. . . . While Georgetown may attempt to prove prospective lost profits without an established track record as a business, . . . it cannot look to prospective customers as the "yardstick" by which to do so.

R23-771-8-9 (emphases in original; citations omitted).

On the eve of trial, however, the trial judge (the Honorable Jacob Mishler of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, sitting by designation), reversed Judge Ryskamp's ruling and held that Georgetown could recover damages for the loss of prospective customers who had no existing understanding or agreement with Georgetown about future purchases. R32-21.

Judge Mishler apparently reasoned that although *liability* must be based on interference with an existing relationship, *damages* could be recovered not just for the loss of existing relationships, but also for the loss of prospective customers who had no agreement or understanding with the plaintiff. R32-18, 20-21, 27. As the discussion below (at pages 10-14 & n.11) shows, however, damages are recoverable only with respect to those relationships for which substantive protection from interference is provided by Florida law.

At the end of trial, a jury found that Ethan Allen had intentionally and maliciously interfered with Georgetown's business relationships by publishing the ad and that this interference proximately caused damage to Georgetown. App. 5. The jury then fixed the amount of damages for two categories: \$285,000 for the loss of profits on customers' existing orders for furniture; and \$7.38 million for the "loss of the value of Georgetown's business," which was based on the alleged loss of sales that Georgetown expected to make sometime in the future to past customers. Id. 9

The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the jury's award of \$285,000 for lost profits on customers' existing orders with Georgetown for Ethan Allen furniture. App. 10-11. But with respect to the \$7.38 million awarded for the alleged loss of value of Georgetown's business supposedly caused by the ad's impact on future sales, the Eleventh Circuit decided to certify a question of Florida law to this Court. Specifically, it has asked whether the interference tort in Florida permits recovery of damages based on potential future sales to past customers "with whom the plaintiff has no understanding" about future purchases, or whether instead the plaintiff's recovery is "limited to harm done to existing business relationships pursuant to which plaintiff has legal rights." App. 13. Although the

As the Eleventh Circuit noted, "the \$7.38 million damage calculation [wa]s based on the testimony of Georgetown's experts who opined that a hypothetical investor would have paid up to \$6,223,000 for Georgetown before the February 3, 1985 advertisement, but that Georgetown had no value after the publication of the advertisement." App. 11 n.4.

Eleventh Circuit acknowledged that the consistent precedents of the Florida district courts of appeal support the latter construction, it found these decisions "not . . . determinative" in the absence of "controlling precedent" of this Court. Id. 10

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida courts have repeatedly -- and consistently -- stated that a plaintiff alleging tortious interference with a business relationship must prove "the existence of a business relationship under which the plaintiff has legal rights," "an intentional and unjustified interference with that relationship by the defendant," and "damage to the plaintiff as a result of the breach of the business relationship." Ethyl Corp. v. Balter, 386 So. 2d 1220 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), review denied., 392 So. 2d 1371 (Fla.), cert. denied, 452 U.S. 955 (1981). See also cases cited at pages 12-13 n.13. Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit acknowledged the existence of this consistent authority in its certified question. App. 13. And although this Court has never specifically addressed the precise question at issue here, it has approved the lower courts' descriptions of the scope and elements of the tort. Tamiami Trail Tours, Inc. v. Cotton, 463 So. 2d 1126, 1127 (Fla. 1985) (per curiam).

This often-reiterated statement of the tort's elements itself provides a ready answer to the certified question: A plaintiff in a tortious interference action can recover damages only for interference with an existing business relationship under which the

The Eleventh Circuit subsequently denied Ethan Allen's petition for rehearing and suggestion for rehearing en banc.

plaintiff has legal rights. Moreover, Florida precedent confirms that this is the correct answer, as courts have rejected tortious interference claims where the plaintiff merely alleged harm to his future business prospects but failed to identify a particular person with whom he had a concrete agreement or understanding. Under that clear authority, Georgetown could not recover for interference with respect to its past customers because it was unable to identify any specific customers with whom it had any sort of agreement or understanding about future purchases.

These limitations on Florida's law of tortious interference are not only well-established, but also entirely sensible. Florida's law of tortious interference is designed to protect relationships that, while not necessarily cemented in a contract, have solidified into some concrete agreement between specific parties. The interference tort does not operate as a broad shield against the sort of reputational harm alleged by Georgetown. Protection against such harm is already provided by other torts such as defamation or trade label. Accordingly, transformation of the interference tort to protect commercial reputation or the mere possibility of future business is neither necessary nor warranted.

ARGUMENT

I. IT IS WELL ESTABLISHED UNDER FLORIDA LAW THAT THE INTERFERENCE TORT PROTECTS ONLY EXISTING BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS UNDER WHICH THE PLAINTIFF HAS LEGAL RIGHTS

As stated above, Georgetown claimed that the ad interfered with its "business relationship" with two separate groups of people: (1) customers who had existing, unfilled orders for

furniture with Georgetown at the time the ad ran; and (2) people (allegedly numbering 89,000) who had shopped at Georgetown sometime in the past and who might have shopped there again sometime in the future, but who had no understanding with Georgetown about future purchases. There is no dispute here that Georgetown possessed a business relationship with the first group that was protected by the interference tort under Florida law; that group is not at issue here. The question before this Court is whether Georgetown possessed legally cognizable "business relationships" with the second group, and so could recover damages (allegedly amounting to \$7.38 million) for the loss of those "relationships." Florida law makes clear that Georgetown may not recover damages for the loss of unidentified "prospective customers" with whom it had no agreement or understanding regarding future purchases. 11

The Eleventh Circuit appears to cast this question as one concerning the scope of damages permitted under Florida law rather than as one involving the existence of liability. App. 11-12. But the question of damages is dependent on the question of liability: that is, damages are recoverable only with respect to those relationships that have been interfered with in violation of Florida's substantive tort law. Thus, the finding of liability with respect to customers who had existing orders for furniture entitled Georgetown to damages only for the harm caused by the interference with those relationships (i.e., the \$285,000 in lost profits for the pending orders). But Georgetown may recover damages for the alleged loss of future business from past customers only if it can establish liability with respect to such people.

We therefore think it is inaccurate to suggest that the question of damages is somehow distinct from the question of liability. Regardless of how the question is phrased, however, the inquiry for this Court remains the same: whether Georgetown had legally cognizable "business relationships" with its past customers regarding future purchases.

A. The Elements of Tortious Interference

The elements of Florida's law of tortious interference with a business relationship are well established: a plaintiff must prove "(1) the existence of a business relationship under which the plaintiff has legal rights, (2) an intentional and unjustified interference with that relationship by the defendant and (3) damage to the plaintiff as a result of the breach of the business relationship." Ethyl Corp. v. Balter, 386 So. 2d 1220, 1223 (Fla. 3d DCA) (emphases added), review denied, 392 So. 2d 1371, cert. denied, 452 U.S. 955 (1981). These elements of the tort have been expressly approved by this Court. Tamiami Trail Tours, Inc. v. Cotton, 463 So. 2d 1126, 1127 (Fla. 1985) (per curiam). And they have been repeatedly and consistently confirmed by all of Florida's district courts of appeal for nearly 30 years. 13

The Court in *Tamiami* also mentioned a fourth element: "knowledge of the relationship on the part of the defendant." 463 So. 2d 1127. This element, though, may already have been implicit in the requirement of an "intentional and unjustified interference with the relationship by the defendant." *Id*. (emphasis added).

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