0 47

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,872

FILED
SID J. WHITE 10/1
ISEP 27 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

ETHAN ALLEN, INC.,

Appellant,

VS.

GEORGETOWN MANOR, INC.,

Appellee.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE GEORGETOWN MANOR, INC.

DANIELS, KASHTAN & FORNARIS, P.A. 2121 Ponce de Leon Boulevard, Suite 650 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

HALL, O'BRIEN & SACK, P.A. 1428 Brickell Avenue, Penthouse Miami, Florida 33131

and

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

By: Joel S. Perwin

#

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

In light of the federal court's affirmance of Georgetown's evidence concerning the dollar losses occasioned by the avalanche of cancellations of its existing orders, we will not summarize Georgetown's evidence of causation and short-term damages. Important for present purposes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/ Compare the above-cited evidence to Ethan Allen's representation (brief at 4) that Mr. Ancell published the ad because he was "concerned that Georgetown's conversion to Thomasville would make consumers think that Ethan Allen had abandoned the southern Florida market." The evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict--which of course Ethan Allen was obliged to state--overwhelmed Mr. Ancell's protestation of an innocent motive. That is the only evidence of relevance in this appeal.

Ethan Allen's challenge to admission of the above-stated evidence of Georgetown's customers' reactions to the ad was rejected by the federal appellate court (A. 8-9). Compare the above-stated evidence to Ethan Allen's assertion (brief at 6 n.6) that Georgetown failed to prove causation because it suffered some cancellations before the ad appeared. The evidence, in the light most favorable to Georgetown, overwhelmingly proved causation, and appellate court has affirmed the jury's finding on that question (A. 11).

is the overwhelming evidence that the avalanche of cancellations, and the ad which caused those cancellations, had the demonstrable and foreseeable long-term effect of undermining Georgetown's goodwill, and destroying the company. Even assuming *arguendo* that Ethan Allen had the unilateral right to terminate Georgetown as its dealer, forcing Mr. Levin to become a Thomasville dealer, the experts testified that an established furniture company's transition from one brand to another typically has no significant effect upon its economic health; in a normal conversion, the company will retain 85-90% of its existing customer base (R46-42, 47, 93-94; R52-10; R53-44; R61-142-43). Thus, two experts testified flatly that Georgetown's demise was not caused by its loss of the Ethan Allen line (R46-23-31, 68-69; R53-44-45). To the contrary, according to the plaintiff's experts, it was the advertisement, and the sweeping loss of current orders caused by that advertisement, which destroyed Georgetown's customer base (R34-215-16; R46-23-31, 38-39, 46-54, 101-03; R48-45-46, 74-75; R61-32-46, 54, 142-43).

As those experts testified, a furniture company's past customers represent a core clientele which is capable of ascertainment, which is reasonably expected to patronize the company again in the future, which does so with statistical regularity, and without whom the company cannot survive. The experts explained that the purchase of furniture is a big investment, and a retail outlet's survival depends upon the establishment of trust in its customers, building up an inventory of orders, and securing their repeat business. That trust is especially critical if the outlet is changing brands, and from that perspective a public accusation during the transition is fatal (see R46-23-31, 52-54). Where a normal brand conversion will retain 85-90% of its

Compare the above-cited evidence to Ethan Allen's suggestion (brief at 22 n.22) that Georgetown had no reasonable expectation of repeat business from its prior customers, who had purchased Ethan Allen furniture, because Georgetown was switching to the Thomasville line of furniture. The experts testified precisely to the contrary; theirs is the testimony in the light most favorable to the verdict; and the appellate court has rejected all of Ethan Allen's challenges to Georgetown's proof of damages, summarized *infra* pp. 14-15.

customer base, Georgetown lost at least 30-50% of its existing customer base after Mr. Ancell's ad induced the wholesale cancellation of its existing orders, and that loss was too much to permit the company's survival (R46-47-52, 101-03). [10] Even though Georgetown attempted to mitigate the damage by operating through a new company, and initiated telephone and direct-mail solicitations of its former customers, newspaper advertising, and sales incentives like free trips, discounts and cash rebates; and even though furniture sales in general were experiencing excellent growth in 1985 and 1986, none of this could overcome the effects of the ad (R46-59-63; R52-29-35).

Moreover, Georgetown's experts were able to quantify the long-term dollar loss--that is, the total destruction of Georgetown's goodwill. Georgetown's theory of damage--a theory well recognized in Florida and elsewhere, *see infra* p. 21-22, 27-28--did not depend on proof that the ad had cost Georgetown a specific number of repeat customers, whose orders would have produced a specific amount of profit. Its theory of long-term damage was that notwithstanding the transition to Thomasville, Georgetown would have retained 85-90% of its existing customer base in the absence of its devastating loss of existing orders and pre-existing customers; that instead Georgetown lost 30-50% of that customer base; and that this loss destroyed Georgetown as a viable economic entity. Because Georgetown had no value after the ad appeared, the expert's task was to quantify its value, as a viable economic entity, before the ad appeared. Dr. James Burrows testified that if the ad had not appeared, in the first year of Georgetown's

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{10}{}$  One witness testified that the ad cost Georgetown 90% of its previous customer base (R52-25, 29).

Ethan Allen's statement (brief at 8)--that Georgetown's damages were "based on the alleged loss of sales that Georgetown expected to make sometime in the future to past customers"--is misleading. Georgetown sought recovery for the lost value of its business--including goodwill-to a prospective purchaser of the company. Obviously that value encompassed certain assumptions about future sales, but it also encompassed much more than that. See infra pp. 21-28. Moreover, the federal appellate court has affirmed the competence of Georgetown's proof.

performance as a Thomasville dealer, it would have grossed \$12,557,700.00 (R51-53; R53-45). That number assumed sales of only \$180 per square foot of sales space, notwithstanding Georgetown's actual sales of \$185-\$200 in 1985-86, and was a "reliable yardstick in economics" (R51-53; see R46-62). The expert then calculated Georgetown's total cost of doing business, based upon its actual historical experience, and confirmed by industry-wide data (R51-55-58; R53-10-12, 78, 91-93); subtracted the costs from the total projected revenue; and came up with a net cash flow for the first year of \$513,400.00 (R51-59, 62). The expert then assumed, very conservatively, that Georgetown would not have increased its constant-dollar (after inflation) net cash flow in any future year, but only would have increased its profits by 5% annually to keep pace with inflation (R51-54-55, 64). Utilizing the universally-accepted discounted cash-flow method of valuing a business (R51-62), and based on his study of the furniture industry, the expert concluded that an arms-length purchaser would be willing to buy a furniture business, and its owner would be willing to sell that business, for an amount which would give the buyer a current-dollar rate of return on his investment (that is, a nominal return before factoring in inflation) of about 13.5% to 15% (which computes to a constant-dollar return (after inflation) of about 8.5-10%). To achieve such a return, the expert testified, a purchaser would have paid \$5.3 million to \$6.2 million for Georgetown before the ad appeared (R51-60-65). computation of damage was extremely conservative, according to the expert, because a willing buyer probably would have accepted a current-dollar return as low as 13% for the business, and thus would have paid more (R51-64-65). Having thus determined the value of the business at the time the ad appeared 4 1/2 years earlier, the expert applied the statutory pre-judgment interest rate of 12%, resulting in total damages of a minimum of \$8,956,000.00 (R51-65, 68-69). Accepting the testimony of other witnesses that the ad had destroyed Georgetown as a viable economic entity, by causing the wholesale cancellation of its existing orders and undermining its goodwill, that was the expert's calculation of the amount of damage caused by the ad (R51-56-68).

On appeal, Ethan Allen argued not only that Georgetown's destruction as a viable economic entity was not compensable as a part of its damages, but also that Georgetown had failed to prove causation—to prove that the ad had initiated a natural sequence of effects which resulted in Georgetown's demise; and also that the expert's calculation of the damage was flawed in a variety of different respects. As we have noted, the federal appellate court rejected all of those arguments. It held that Georgetown had offered substantial competent evidence of causation—that the ad had created a sequence of events which destroyed Georgetown—and substantial competent evidence that the value of Georgetown, destroyed by the ad, was approximately \$8.9 million. Those findings are now the law of this case. They must be accepted as the predicate for this Court's determination of the single issue certified by the federal court—whether a loss of goodwill is ever compensable under Florida law in a tortious-interference case, assuming (as the appellate court found here) that the plaintiff's evidence of such a loss is competent. As we have noted, Ethan Allen's brief offers no discussion of that question.

### II ISSUES ON APPEAL

Α. IF THE PLAINTIFF PROVES THAT THE DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT IS TORTIOUS, AND HAS INTERFERED WITH EXISTING CONTRACTS OR ECONOMIC RELATIONSHIPS, WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF MAY ALSO RECOVER, IN PROPER CASES, FOR THE DIMINISHED OR DESTROYED VALUE OF HIS BUSINESS, BY PROVING THAT THE DEFENDANT'S TORTIOUS CONDUCT, AND THE LOSS OF EXISTING CONTRACTS OR CUSTOMERS CAUSED BY THAT CONDUCT, WERE THE FORESEEABLE CAUSE OF THE LOSS OF HIS BUSINESS, INCLUDING ITS GOODWILL. 12/

<sup>12/</sup> This is the question which is not addressed at all in Ethan Allen's brief.

В. WHETHER FLORIDA LAW PERMITS A PLAINTIFF, PROPER CASES, TO RECOVER FOR TORTIOUS IN INTERFERENCE EVEN IF THE PLAINTIFF CANNOT PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT INTERFERED WITH **EXISTING** CONTRACTS ANY OR BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS, WHERE THE PLAINTIFF CAN PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT DIMINISHED OR DESTROYED THE VALUE OF THE PLAINTIFF'S BUSINESS. 13/

#### III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

We have summarized our basic position at pages 1-4, *supra*. Ethan Allen's fundamental error was its failure to address the single question which troubled the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit--whether, in proper cases, a plaintiff who proves liability for tortious interference can recover not only for any lost profits which were the immediate consequence of the defendant's wrongdoing, but also for the loss or destruction of the plaintiff's business, including its goodwill, if that loss was the natural and probable consequence of the defendant's wrongdoing. As we will demonstrate, Florida law has long recognized that the plaintiff must be fully compensated for all of the natural and probable consequences of the defendant's wrongdoing, and the law of every other jurisdiction is in accord. For this reason, it is unnecessary for this Court to address the question re-formulated by Ethan Allen--whether liability for tortious interference may be predicated upon conduct which may not have interfered with any existing contract or relationship, but which did injure or destroy the plaintiff's business. Although we think, and will demonstrate, that the answer to that question also is "yes," it is a question which is not presented by this case, and which the Court need not address.

<sup>13/</sup> This is the only question addressed in Ethan Allen's brief--a question which the instant case does not squarely present.

#### IV ARGUMENT

A. IF THE **PLAINTIFF** PROVES THAT THE DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT IS TORTIOUS, AND HAS INTERFERED WITH EXISTING CONTRACTS OR ECONOMIC RELATIONSHIPS. THE PLAINTIFF MAY ALSO RECOVER. PROPER CASES. FOR THE DIMINISHED DESTROYED VALUE OF HIS BUSINESS, BY PROVING THAT THE DEFENDANT'S TORTIOUS CONDUCT, AND THE LOSS OF EXISTING CONTRACTS OR CUSTOMERS CAUSED BY THAT CONDUCT, WERE THE FORESEEABLE CAUSE OF THE LOSS OF HIS BUSINESS, INCLUDING ITS GOODWILL.

As we have emphasized, it must be accepted as true for the purpose of this proceeding not only that the newspaper ad published by Ethan Allen resulted in the loss of \$285,000.00 in profits on Georgetown's existing orders for Ethan Allen furniture, but also that such a devastating short-term loss, and the reprehensible conduct which caused it, foreseeably resulted in Georgetown's destruction as a viable economic entity, notwithstanding its best efforts to mitigate the harm. On that assumption, which must be made for the purpose of this proceeding, there can be no question that Florida law permitted Georgetown's recovery of damages for the loss of its goodwill.

1. Defining Tort Damages Under Florida Law. Judge Mishler charged the jury, with all parties' agreement (see R63-211-14), that if it found for Georgetown it should award "damages that will compensate Georgetown for its loss. The expression usually is to make Georgetown whole, to place it in the same financial condition as it would have been if Ethan Allen did not tortiously interfere with Georgetown's business relationships with its customers" (R66-22). As the parties all agreed, that charge was an accurate characterization of Florida tort law: "In tort actions, the measure of damages seeks to restore the victim to the position he would be in had the wrong not been committed." Ashland Oil, Inc. v. Pickard, 269 So. 2d 714,

723 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972), cert. denied, 285 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1973). Accord, Glades Oil Co. v. R.A.I. Management, Inc., 510 So. 2d 1193, 1195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). As a leading commentator has put it: "The cardinal principle of damages in Anglo-American law is that of compensation for the injury caused by defendant's breach of duty"--"[t]he primary notion is that of repairing plaintiff's injury or of making him whole as nearly as that may be done by an award of money." F. Harper, F. James, Jr., O. Gray, 4 The Law of Torts § 25.1, at 490, 493 (2d ed. 1986). In defining the boundaries of such damages, this Court has stated repeatedly that the principle of compensation can be satisfied only if the plaintiff recovers in tort for all of the natural and probable consequences of the defendant's conduct. See Mansfield v. Brigham, 91 Fla. 109, 107 So. 336, 338 (1926); Warfield v. Hepburn, 62 Fla. 409, 57 So. 618, 621 (1912); Taylor Imported Motors, Inc. v. Smiley, 143 So. 2d 66, 68 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). 14/

<sup>14/</sup> This formulation, as Judge Mishler charged the jury (R66-22), does not require proof of any subjective appreciation of such consequences, but only that they were the type of consequences which typically result from such conduct. See Florida East Coast R. Co. v. Peters, 77 Fla. 411, 83 So. 559, 564 (1919); Hall v. Western Union Telegraph Co., 59 Fla. 275, 51 So. 819, 821 (1910); Western Union Telegraph Co. v. Merritt, 55 Fla. 462, 46 So. 1024 (1908); Briggs v. Brown, 55 Fla. 417, 46 So. 325, 330 (1908); Hamilton v. Walker Chemical & Exterminating Co., 233 So. 2d 440, 444 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). See generally 1 R. Dunn, Recovery of Damages for Lost Profits § 1.5, at 17, § 1.18, at 61 (4th ed. 1992) (contract damages require subjective foreseeability; tort damages require objective probability). In any event, as we have noted, Ethan Allen stipulated to Judge Mishler's charge on the question of damages, and Judge Mishler's charge therefore represents the law of this case. A party's agreement to a jury charge not only precludes that party from challenging the charge itself under Rule 1.470(b), Fla. R. Civ. P.; it also constitutes a concession of the legal standard against which the jury's verdict must be measured. See Bould v. Touchette, 349 So. 2d 1181, 1186 (Fla. 1977); Wagner v. Nottingham Associates, 464 So. 2d 166, 169-70 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 475 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1985); Johnson v. Lasher Milling Co., 379 So. 2d 1048, 1050 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 388 So. 2d 1114 (Fla. 1980). As one federal court has put it: "[W]here no objections are made to instructions at trial, the substance of the instructions become part of the law of the case." Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. v. Pearson, 769 F. 2d 1471, 1477 (10th Cir. 1985). Accord, Music Research, Inc. v. Vanguard Recording Society, Inc., 547 F. 2d 192, 194-95 (2d Cir. 1976); Green v. American Tobacco Co., 325 F. 2d 673, 676 (5th Cir. 1963), cert. denied, 377 U.S. 943, 84 S. Ct. 1349, 1351, 12 L. Ed. 2d 306 (1964).

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